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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL TRICARICHI,

Appellant,

v.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS,
LLP,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No: 86317

MOTION TO EXTEND TIME TO
FILE AMENDED DOCKETING

STATEMENT

(FIRST REQUEST)

Appellant Michael Tricarichi (“Appellant”), by and through his undersigned

counsel of record, hereby moves this Court to extend the time to file his amended

docketing statement by two (2) days, to be due on or before July 13, 2023. This is

Appellant’s first request for an extension.

On June 27, 2023, this Court filed an Order which required Appellant to,

among other things, file an amended docketing statement by July 11, 2023.

Unfortunately, due to an unforeseen technological glitch in Hutchison & Steffen,

PLLC’s email system—Appellant’s local counsel’s office—Appellant did not

receive electronic notice of the Court’s Order until July 7, 2023. Similarly,

Appellant’s lead counsel, Sperling & Slater, LLC, has been unable to locate a copy

of the Court’s order (electronic or otherwise). As a result of this technological

mishap, along with an administrative error in calendaring the deadline, the amended

docketing statement was not timely filed.

Electronically Filed
Jul 13 2023 02:38 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 86317   Document 2023-22468
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Notably, Appellant’s counsel attempted to file the Amended Docketing

Statement on July 12, 2023. However, the Court’s e-filing system was down and

not accepting any filings from around 5:00 p.m. on July 12, 2023, until around 8:00

a.m. on July 13, 2023, as confirmed by an email from the office of the Court Clerk,

received this morning. See Email exchange with Court Clerk’s office, attached

hereto as Exhibit 1. For the convenience of the Court, Appellant’s Amended

Docketing Statement, which is filed concurrently herewith, is attached hereto as

Exhibit 2.

Based on these extenuating circumstances and the unforeseen technological

issues that prevented Appellant’s counsel from timely receiving notice of the

Court’s most recent Order, good cause exists to grant this instant Motion. Appellant

therefore respectfully requests that the Court extend the existing deadline to file the

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /



3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Amended Docketing Statement by two (2) days, making the new deadline July 13,

2023.

DATED this 13th day of July, 2023.

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

By:__/s/ Ariel C. Johnson_______________
Brenoch R. Wirthlin (10282)
Ariel C. Johnson (13357)
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89145

Scott F. Hessell (Pro Hac Vice)
SPERLING & SLATER, LLC
55 West Monroe, Suite 3200
Chicago, IL 60603

Attorneys for Appellant Michael A.
Tricarichi
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify pursuant to NRAP 25(c), that on the this 13th day of July,

2023, I caused service of a true and correct copy of the above and MOTION TO

EXTEND TIME TO FILE AMENDED DOCKETING STATEMENT pursuant to

the Supreme Court Electronic Filing System to the following:

ALL COUNSEL ON SERVICE LIST

/s/ Kaylee Conradi
An employee of Hutchison & Steffen PLLC
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Kaylee Conradi

From: Wunsch, Rory <rwunsch@nvcourts.nv.gov>

Sent: Thursday, July 13, 2023 7:55 AM

To: Kaylee Conradi

Cc: Ariel C. Johnson

Subject: RE: Filing system down

Good Morning Kaylee, 

 

Your email has been forwarded to me for response. Unfortunately, our system went down a�er hours yesterday so we 

were unable to fix it un�l this morning. Our IT department is currently fixing the problem and it should be back up 

shortly. Let me know if you have any further ques�ons. 

 

Thank you 

 

Rory Wunsch 

Chief Deputy Clerk 

Nevada Supreme Court 

 

 

 

From: Kaylee Conradi <kconradi@hutchlegal.com>  

Sent: Wednesday, July 12, 2023 8:37 PM 

To: Supreme Court Clerk <nvscclerk@nvcourts.nv.gov> 

Cc: Ariel C. Johnson <ajohnson@hutchlegal.com> 

Subject: Filing system down  

 

Good evening,  

 

Our office has been a>emp�ng to file on eFlex since around 4:30 p.m. this a�ernoon, however, we keep receiving the 

a>ached error message.  I wanted to reach out to advise you of this issue as well as ask if we will s�ll be able to obtain 

today’s filing date if we are unable to actually file tonight?  I look forward to hearing from you. 

 

Kind regards,  

 

 

Kaylee Conradi 

Legal Assistant   
To help protect you r priv acy, Microsoft Office prevented automatic download of this picture from the Internet.
HS logo

 
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC 

(702) 385-2500 

hutchlegal.com  

Notice of Confidentiality: The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to whom it is addressed and may 

contain confidential and/or privileged material. Any review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or taking any action in 

reliance upon, this information by anyone other than the intended recipient is not authorized.  
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This email has been scanned for spam & viruses. If you believe this email should have been stopped by our filters, click 

here to report it. 
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AMENDED DOCKETING STATEMENT 



1. Judicial District Department

County Judge

District Ct. Case No.

2. Attorney filing this docketing statement:

Attorney Telephone

Firm
Address

Client(s)

If this is a joint statement by multiple appellants, add the names and addresses of other counsel and 
the names of their clients on an additional sheet accompanied by a certification that they concur in the 
filing of this statement.

3. Attorney(s) representing respondents(s):

Client(s)

Address
Firm

TelephoneAttorney

Client(s)

Address
Firm

TelephoneAttorney

(List additional counsel on separate sheet if necessary)

Eighth 31

Clark Honorable Joanna S. Kishner

A-16-735910-B

Ariel C. Johnson (702) 385-2500

Hutchison & Steffen, PLLC

10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Plaintiff/Appellant Michael Tricarichi

Defendant/Appellee PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP

3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

Snell & Wilmer, LLP

(702) 784-5200Patrick Byrne

Defendant/Appellee PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP

54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300 
Chicago, Illinois 60654

Bartlit Beck LLP

(312) 494-4400Christopher D. Landgraff



4. Nature of disposition below (check all that apply):
Judgment after bench trial

Other disposition (specify):

ModificationOriginal
Divorce Decree:

Review of agency determination
Grant/Denial of declaratory relief
Grant/Denial of injunction
Grant/Denial of NRCP 60(b) relief
Default judgment
Summary judgment
Judgment after jury verdict

Other (specify):
Failure to prosecute
Failure to state a claim
Lack of jurisdiction

Dismissal:

5. Does this appeal raise issues concerning any of the following?

Child Custody
Venue
Termination of parental rights

6. Pending and prior proceedings in this court.  List the case name and docket number  
of all appeals or original proceedings presently or previously pending before this court which 
are related to this appeal:

7. Pending and prior proceedings in other courts.  List the case name, number and  
court of all pending and prior proceedings in other courts which are related to this appeal  
(e.g., bankruptcy, consolidated or bifurcated proceedings) and their dates of disposition:

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP v. The Eighth Judicial District Court, et al., No. 73175 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP v. The Eighth Judicial District Court, et al., No. 82371

Not applicable



8. Nature of the action.  Briefly describe the nature of the action and the result below:

9. Issues on appeal.  State concisely the principal issue(s) in this appeal (attach separate  
sheets as necessary):

10. Pending proceedings in this court raising the same or similar issues.  If you are  
aware of any proceedings presently pending before this court which raises the same or  
similar issues raised in this appeal, list the case name and docket numbers and identify the 
same or similar issue raised:  

Plaintiff filed his complaint seeking to hold PwC responsible for its negligent representation 
of him in providing accounting services regarding a 2003 transaction commonly referred to 
as a “Midco transaction.” The district court, Judge Elizabeth Gonzalez, entered an October 
24, 2018, order granting summary judgment to PwC ruling that any and all claims arising 
from services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003 are time barred. 
 
On January 5, 2021, Judge Gonzalez denied PwC’s motion to strike Plaintiff’s jury demand. 
On mandamus, Judge Joanna Kishner, who replaced Judge Gonzalez, entered an April 29, 
2022, order ruling that Plaintiff was bound by a jury trial waiver under Lowe Enters. 
Residential Partners, L.P. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 118 Nev. 92 (2002).  
 
The matter proceeded to trial on Plaintiff’s amended complaint. The district court, in its 
February 9, 2023, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment, ruled in favor of 
PwC at trial.

Whether the district court erred by ruling in its October 24, 2018, order that any and all 
claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003 are time barred. 
  
Whether the district court erred by ruling in its April 29, 2022, order that Plaintiff was 
bound by a jury trial waiver under the factors identified in Lowe Enters. Residential 
Partners, L.P. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 118 Nev. 92 (2002). 

Not applicable



11. Constitutional issues.  If this appeal challenges the constitutionality of a statute, and  
the state, any state agency, or any officer or employee thereof is not a party to this appeal,  
have you notified the clerk of this court and the attorney general in accordance with NRAP 44 
and NRS 30.130?

N/A

No
Yes

If not, explain:

12. Other issues.  Does this appeal involve any of the following issues?

Reversal of well-settled Nevada precedent (identify the case(s))
An issue arising under the United States and/or Nevada Constitutions 
A substantial issue of first impression
An issue of public policy
An issue where en banc consideration is necessary to maintain uniformity of this 
court's decisions
A ballot question
If so, explain:



15. Judicial Disqualification.  Do you intend to file a motion to disqualify or have a 
justice recuse him/herself from participation in this appeal?  If so, which Justice?  

Was it a bench or jury trial?

14. Trial.  If this action proceeded to trial, how many days did the trial last?

13. Assignment to the Court of Appeals or retention in the Supreme Court. Briefly 
set forth whether the matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court or assigned to 
the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17, and cite the subparagraph(s) of the Rule under which 
the matter falls. If appellant believes that the Supreme Court should retain the case despite 
its presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals, identify the specific issue(s) or circum-
stance(s) that warrant retaining the case, and include an explanation of their importance or 
significance:

No

Bench

9

This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant NRAP 17(a)(9) because it 
originates in Business Court. 



TIMELINESS OF NOTICE OF APPEAL

16. Date of entry of written judgment or order appealed from

If no written judgment or order was filed in the district court, explain the basis for  
seeking appellate review:

17. Date written notice of entry of judgment or order was served
Was service by:

Delivery
Mail/electronic/fax

18. If the time for filing the notice of appeal was tolled by a post-judgment motion
(NRCP 50(b), 52(b), or 59) 
  
 (a) Specify the type of motion, the date and method of service of the motion, and 
      the date of filing.

NRCP 50(b)

NRCP 52(b)

NRCP 59

Date of filing

Date of filing

Date of filing

NOTE: Motions made pursuant to NRCP 60 or motions for rehearing or reconsideration may toll the
             time for filing a notice of appeal.  See AA Primo Builders v. Washington, 126 Nev. ____, 245  
 P.3d 1190 (2010).

 (b) Date of entry of written order resolving tolling motion

 (c) Date written notice of entry of order resolving tolling motion was served
Was service by:

Delivery
Mail

February 9, 2023

Not applicable 

February 22, 2023



19. Date notice of appeal filed
If more than one party has appealed from the judgment or order, list the date each 
notice of appeal was filed and identify by name the party filing the notice of appeal:

20. Specify statute or rule governing the time limit for filing the notice of appeal, 
e.g., NRAP 4(a) or other

SUBSTANTIVE APPEALABILITY

21. Specify the statute or other authority granting this court jurisdiction to review 
the judgment or order appealed from:
(a)

NRAP 3A(b)(1)
NRAP 3A(b)(2)
NRAP 3A(b)(3)
Other (specify)

NRS 38.205
NRS 233B.150
NRS 703.376

(b) Explain how each authority provides a basis for appeal from the judgment or order:

March 24, 2023

Not applicable

NRAP 4(a)

The appealed order is a final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the 
court in which the judgment is rendered.



22. List all parties involved in the action or consolidated actions in the district court: 
      (a) Parties:

      (b) If all parties in the district court are not parties to this appeal, explain in detail why 
 those parties are not involved in this appeal, e.g., formally dismissed, not served, or 
 other:

23. Give a brief description (3 to 5 words) of each party's separate claims, 
counterclaims, cross-claims, or third-party claims and the date of formal 
disposition of each claim.

24. Did the judgment or order appealed from adjudicate ALL the claims alleged 
below and the rights and liabilities of ALL the parties to the action or consolidated 
actions below?

Yes
No

25. If you answered "No" to question 24, complete the following:
(a) Specify the claims remaining pending below:

Plaintiff: Michael Tricarichi
Defendants: PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, Cooperatieve Rabobank UA, Seyfarth
Shaw LLP, Graham R. Taylor, Utrechit-America Finance Co.

Defendants Cooperatieve Robobank UA, Seyfarth Shaw LLP, Graham R. Taylor, 
and Utrechit-America Finance Co. are not parties to this appeal as they were 
dismissed at earlier phases is this matter.

Not applicable

Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi: 
- Negligent representation against PwC for acts in 2003; summary judgment was granted in PwC’s 
favor on October 24, 2018. See the Court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment, attached hereto as 
Exhibit 2. 
- Negligence representation against PwC for acts arising after 2003; PwC prevailed at trial, as noted 
in the Court’s Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment, filed on February 9, 2023, 
attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 



(b) Specify the parties remaining below:

(c) Did the district court certify the judgment or order appealed from as a final judgment 
pursuant to NRCP 54(b)?

Yes
No

(d) Did the district court make an express determination, pursuant to NRCP 54(b), that 
there is no just reason for delay and an express direction for the entry of judgment?

No
Yes

26. If you answered "No" to any part of question 25, explain the basis for seeking 
appellate review (e.g., order is independently appealable under NRAP 3A(b)):

27. Attach file-stamped copies of the following documents: 
l The latest-filed complaint, counterclaims, cross-claims, and third-party claims 
l Any tolling motion(s) and order(s) resolving tolling motion(s) 
l Orders of NRCP 41(a) dismissals formally resolving each claim, counterclaims, cross- 
      claims and/or third-party claims asserted in the action or consolidated action below, 
      even if not at issue on appeal 
l Any other order challenged on appeal 
l Notices of entry for each attached order

Not applicable

Not applicable



VERIFICATION

I declare under penalty of perjury that I have read this docketing statement, that 
the information provided in this docketing statement is true and complete to the 
best of my knowledge, information and belief, and that I have attached all required
documents to this docketing statement.

Name of appellant

State and county where signed

Name of counsel of record

Signature of counsel of recordDate

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on the day of , , I served a copy of this
completed docketing statement upon all counsel of record:

By mailing it by first class mail with sufficient postage prepaid to the following 
address(es): (NOTE: If all names and addresses cannot fit below, please list names 
below and attach a separate sheet with the addresses.)

By personally serving it upon him/her; or

,day ofDated this

Signature

Michael A. Tricarichi

State of Nevada, County of Clark

Ariel C. Johnson

/s/ Ariel C. Johnson

2023

X By electronic service to all parties on the e-service list.

/s/ Kaylee Conradi

13th                                               July

July 13, 2023 

13th                         July                                  2023
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Case Number: A-16-735910-B

Electronically Filed
10/24/2018 10:23 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Patrick Byrne, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 7636 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 13064 
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89169 
Telephone:  702.784.5200 
Facsimile:  702.784.5252 
pbyrne@swlaw.com 
baustin@swlaw.com  
 
Peter B. Morrison, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
peter.morrison@skadden.com 
Winston P. Hsiao, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
winston.hsiao@skadden.com 
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM LLP 
300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400 
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3144 
Telephone: (213) 687-5000 
Facsimile: (213) 687-5600 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI,  
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLP, 
COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., 
UTRECHT-AMERICA FINANCE CO., 
SEYFARTH SHAW LLP and GRAHAM R. 
TAYLOR, 
 

Defendants. 

Case No. A-16-735910-B 
 
Dept. No. XI 

 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
 

 
  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR RESPECTIVE COUNSEL: 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the attached ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT was entered in the above-entitled matter on October 24, 2018.   

 

Dated: October 24, 2018                                SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 
 

 By:  /s/ Bradley Austin     
Patrick Byrne Esq. 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq. 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
 
Peter B. Morrison, Esq.  
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Winston P. Hsiao, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & 
FLOM, LLP 
300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3400 
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3144 
 
Attorneys for Defendant 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 As an employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P., I certify that a copy of the foregoing NOTICE 

OF ENTRY OF ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT was served on October 

24, 2018, by the method indicated: 
  

 i) BY FAX:  by transmitting via facsimile the document(s) listed above to 
the fax number(s) set forth below on this date before 5:00 p.m. pursuant to EDCR Rule 
7.26(a).  A printed transmission record is attached to the file copy of this document(s). 

 ii) BY U.S. MAIL:  by placing the document(s) listed above in a sealed 
envelope with postage thereon fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, 
Nevada addressed as set forth below. 

 iii) BY OVERNIGHT MAIL:  by causing document(s) to be picked up by 
an overnight delivery service company for delivery to the addressee(s) on the next 
business day. 

 iv) BY PERSONAL DELIVERY:  by causing personal delivery 
by                     , a messenger service with which this firm maintains an account, of the 
document(s) listed above to the person(s) at the address(es) set forth below. 

 v) BY ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION:  submitted to the above-entitled 
Court for electronic filing and service upon the Court’s Service List for the above-
referenced case. 

 vi) BY EMAIL:  by emailing a PDF of the document listed above to the 
email addresses of the individual(s) listed below. 

 
Mark A. Hutchison, Esq. 
Todd L. Moody, Esq. 
Todd W. Prall, Esq. 
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC 
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
mhutchison@hutchlegal.com 
tmoody@hutchlegal.com 
tprall@hutchlegal.com 
 
Scott F. Hessell, Esq. 
Thomas D. Brooks, Esq. 
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 
55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 
Chicago, IL 60603 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

Statistically closed: USJR - CV - Bench Trial - Judgment Reached (USJRBT)
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 
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trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  
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53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 
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005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 



 

35 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 



 

37 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 
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limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  
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and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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89�:;<�=>8?@A@8BC�D�E�:;<�><FG:@?<�HG>IG@B@BI�=8J<>�89�:;<�=G>:@<A�GBK�D�E�J;<:;<>�:;<�JG@?@BI�=G>:LMA�N8OBA<F�;GK�GB�8==8>:OB@:L�:8�><?@<J�:;<�GI><<P<B:QR�STUV���	�W<?Q�G:����C����XQ�K�G:����Q����Q� YZ[\�N8O>:�PGL�N8BA@K<>C�HO:�@A�B8:�F@P@:<K�:8C�:;<�GH8?<�9GN:8>A�J;<B�K<:<>P@B@BI�J;<:;<>�G�]O>L�:>@GF�JG@?<>�A;8OFK�H<�<B98>N<KQR�̂_Q�àbcabde�f̀ �̀ghi�jk� blmnopqopnrs�tlmquvprm�owl�xyuz{|qp}lu�~un}pspnr���Q� �;<�=G>:@<A�GI><<�:;<><�J<><�B8�A=<N@9@N�B<I8:@G:@8BA�8?<>�:;<�]O>L�JG@?<>�=>8?@A@8B�98OBK�@B�:;<��<>PA�89��BIGI<P<B:�:8�X>8?@K<��G���<>?@N<A�DY�<>PA�89��BIGI<P<B:REQ����Q� �8J<?<>C��>@NG>@N;@�=>8=8A<K�N;GBI<A�:8�N<>:G@B�=>8?@A@8BA�98OBK�@B�:;<�������BIGI<P<B:�[I><<P<B:�:;8OI;�B8:�@B�:;<�G::GN;<K��<>PA�89��BIGI<P<B:�GBK�:;<�=G>:@<A�B<I8:@G:<K�8?<>�:;8A<�=>8=8A<K�N;GBI<AQ������k� hnrs�p�ynysrlss�n��owl�xyuz{|qp}lu�~un}pspnr����Q� �;<><�@A�B8�K@A=O:<�:;G:�:;<�]O>L�JG@?<>�@A�@B�:;<�AGP<�A@�<�98B:�GA�:;<��<>PA�89��BIGI<P<B:MA�8:;<>�=>8?@A@8BAC�GBK�@:�@A�B8:�H8FK<K�8>�@B�GFF�NG=AC�GBK�:;G:�N<>:G@B�8:;<>�:<�:�@B��<N:@8B���89�:;<��<>PA�89��BIGI<P<B:�@A�@B�GFF�NG=AQ��	Q� �8J<?<>C�:;<�:@:F<�89��<N:@8B�
�:;G:�@BNFOK<A�:;<�]O>L�JG@?<>C�Ytlsn�yopnr�n��cp��lulr�lsRC�@A�@B�H8FKQ��VV���Q�[�GKP@::<K�G:�:;<��<G>@BIQ��
Q� �8><8?<>C�:;<�Y�<A8FO:@8B�89��@99<><BN<AR�:<>PA�@BNFOK<A�N>LA:GF�NF<G>C�OBGPH@IO8OA�FGBIOGI<��YZXJ�\�GBK�:;<��F@<B:�GI><<�B8:�:8�K<PGBK�G�:>@GF�HL�]O>L�@B�GBL�GN:@8BC�=>8N<<K@BI�8>�N8OB:<>NFG@P�G>@A@BI�8O:�89�8>�><FG:@BI�:8�:;@A�[I><<P<B:QR����Q� �@BGFFLC�:;<�]O>L�:>@GF�JG@?<>�@A�PO:OGF�@:�G==F@<A�<�OGFFL�98>�GFF�NFG@PA�GBK�N8OB:<>NFG@PAC�H@BK@BI�H8:;��>@NG>@N;@�GBK�XJ�Q����k� tl�qop}l��qumqprprm�~n�lu�n��owl�~quopls����Q� �;@F<�XJ��@A�GB�@BA:@:O:@8B�GBK��>@NG>@N;@�@A�GB�@BK@?@KOGFC��>@NG>@N;@�@A�G�A8=;@A:@NG:<K�@BK@?@KOGF�J@:;�G�?<>L�FG>I<�HOA@B<AA�GBK�JGA�A<<�@BI�G�A<N8BK�8=@B@8B�9>8P�XJ�Q���Q� �>@NG>@N;@�GFA8�:<A:@9@<K�:;G:�;<�;GK�POF:@=F<�><A8O>N<A�GBK�JGA�N8BAOF:@BI�N8OBA<F�@B�G�?G>@<:L�89�K@99<><B:�G><GA�G:�:;<�:@P<�:;G:�;<�<BIGI<K�XJ��@B�����Q��



� ��������������	�
��������������������������	��
��������������������������	�

������������������������������������ ������� �

�
������������ �������� �� ������������  !! �"���#$�"%&"�����#'��()��%�*��++
,,�

����-�&��)�.�-�$
��!/+0/� 12,342!5673,,�

�

� ���
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FFCL 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

 Case Number: A-16-735910-B 

 ELECTRONICALLY SERVED 
 2/9/2023 2:18 PM 
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FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 
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trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  



 

14 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 



 

17 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 
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him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 
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settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 



 

38 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  



 

40 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment 

was entered in the above-captioned matter on February 9, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto 

as Exhibit 1.  

 Dated: February 22, 2023            SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 

By:       /s/ Bradley Austin 
Patrick Byrne, Esq. (NV Bar No. 7636) 
Bradley T. Austin, Esq. (NV Bar No. 13064) 
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
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BARTLIT BECK LLP 
54 West Hubbard Street, Suite 300 
Chicago, IL 60654 

Sundeep K. (Rob) Addy, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Daniel C. Taylor, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
BARTLIT BECK LLP  
1801 Wewatta Street, Suite 1200 
Denver, CO 80202 

Attorneys for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, the undersigned, declare under penalty of perjury, that I am over the age of eighteen (18) 

years, and I am not a party to, nor interested in, this action.  On February 22, 2023, I caused to be 

served a true and correct copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF FINDINGS OF FACT 

AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND JUDGMENT upon the following by the method 

indicated:  
  

 
BY E-MAIL:  by transmitting via e-mail the document(s) listed above to the e-mail 
addresses set forth below and/or included on the Court’s Service List for the above-
referenced case. 

 
BY U.S. MAIL:  by placing the document(s) listed above in a sealed envelope with 
postage thereon fully prepaid, in the United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada addressed 
as set forth below. 

 
BY OVERNIGHT MAIL:  by causing document(s) to be picked up by an overnight 
delivery service company for delivery to the addressee(s) on the next business day. 

 
BY PERSONAL DELIVERY:  by causing personal delivery via messenger service of 
the document(s) listed above to the person(s) at the address(es) set forth below. 

 
BY ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION:  submitted to the above-entitled Court for 
electronic filing and service upon the Court's Service List for the above-referenced case. 

 
 
Brenoch Wirthlin, Esq. 
Ariel Johnson, Esq. 
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC 
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
bwirthlin@hutchlegal.com 
ajohnson@hutchlegal.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

Scott F. Hessell, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
Blake Sercye, Esq. (Pro Hac Vice) 
SPERLING & SLATER, P.C. 
55 West Monroe, Suite 3200 
Chicago, IL 60603 
shessell@sperling-law.com 
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 /s/ Lyndsey Luxford     
An Employee of Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  

 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP,  

Defendant. 

CASE NO.:   A-16-735910-B 

DEPT. NO.:  XXXI 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS 
OF LAW AND JUDGMENT 

 

 

 

 

 This matter came on for a Bench Trial before the Honorable Judge Joanna 

S. Kishner, Department XXXI, commencing October 31, 2022, and the trial 

concluded November 10, 2022.  Appearing for Plaintiff Michael Tricarichi was 

Ariel C. Johnson, Esq. of HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC., along with pro hac 

vice counsel, Scott F. Hessell, Esq. and Blake Sercye, Esq. of SPERLING & 

SLATER, P.C.  Appearing for Defendant PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. (“PwC”) 

was Patrick G. Byrne, Esq. and Bradley T. Austin, Esq. of SNELL & WILMER, 

LLP, along with pro hac vice counsel, Mark L. Levine, Esq., Christopher D. 

Landgraff, Esq., Katharine A. Roin, Esq., of BARTLIT BECK, LLP.   The Court, 

having heard the testimony of the witnesses, having reviewed the trial exhibits 

and evidence, and having heard arguments of counsel finds and orders as 

follows: 

Electronically Filed
02/09/2023 1:33 PM

 Case Number: A-16-735910-B 

 ELECTRONICALLY SERVED 
 2/9/2023 2:18 PM 

001



 

2 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
I. Introduction and Relevant Parties 

1. This case arises from a 2003 transaction, in which Plaintiff Michael 

Tricarichi (“Tricarichi”) sold his shares of his wholly-owned business, Westside 

Cellular (“Westside”) to Fortrend International LLC (“Fortrend”) for approximately 

$34.9 million (the “Westside Transaction”).  Tricarichi retained Defendant 

PriceWaterHouseCoopers, LLP (“PwC”), among others, to provide tax services 

related to the sale.1   

2. The IRS later audited Westside’s 2003 tax return and sought to 

collect Westside’s unpaid taxes from Tricarichi.  The Tax Court ultimately 

ordered Tricarichi to pay roughly $21 million in additional taxes and penalties, 

plus interest. Ex.2 66, Tricarichi Tax Court Memo at 068.  

3. In 2016, Tricarichi filed this lawsuit against PwC, alleging that PwC 

was negligent in providing tax advice in 2003. Dkt. 1, Compl. ¶¶ 81–96.  The 

Court granted Summary Judgment for PwC on that claim - on statute of 

limitations grounds. Dkt. 119, Order Granting Summ. J. at 3.  Tricarichi then 

amended his Complaint to allege that PwC was separately negligent five years 

later for, among other things, failing to advise him in 2008 about IRS Notice 

2008-111, which was issued in December 2008. Dkt. 140, Am. Compl. ¶¶ 115–

121. Tricarichi set forth that inter alia if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he could have avoided years of litigation with the IRS. Id. ¶ 121.  

                                                           
1 While the background facts of this case have been extensively cited not only in at least two 
appellate decisions and in the Order in the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court reiterates 
the relevant background facts as set forth in the trial to the extent they do not conflict with the law 
of the case.   
2 “Ex.” refers to exhibits admitted into evidence at trial. “TT” (followed by the corresponding day of 
trial) refers to the trial transcripts, which are filed as docket numbers 396–405.  
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4.  At trial, Tricarichi sought  to recover the interest that has accrued 

on his tax deficiency between early 2009 and 2018 as well as attorney’s fees 

and other costs he incurred litigating against the IRS (approximately $3 million) 

— a total of approximately $18 million. 

 
II. The Westside Transaction  
 
5. In April and May of 2003, Westside received approximately $65 

million in settlement proceeds from antitrust claims brought in Ohio. Ex. 66 at 

007.  The Record reflects that Tricarichi knew he would face substantial tax 

liability on the settlement - both at the corporate level, and as a shareholder of 

Westside and began looking for ways to minimize his tax burden. Id.  Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, made an introduction to a company called Fortrend in early 

2003, who told Tricarichi that it would purchase his Westside stock and offset the 

taxable gain with losses, thereby eliminating Westside’s corporate income tax 

liability. Id. at 008.  Tricarichi set forth that the amount after payment of legal fees 

and employee bonuses, Westside was left with approximately $40 million. Nov. 2, 

2022, Trial Tr. 89:11-16; Trial Ex. 66 at 011.  Regardless of whether the net 

amount was $65 million or $40 million for purposes of the claims at issue in the 

present litigation the analysis is the same.  

6. Tricarichi retained his long-time attorneys at Hahn Loeser & Parks, 

LLP (“Hahn Loeser”) to oversee all aspects of the transaction, including 

structuring it, drafting the deal documents, and providing advice on how Tricarichi 

could minimize his tax burden. TT8 (Vol. 2) 9, 12–13 (Hart Dep. 56:14–20, 

93:24–94:5).  
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7. Hahn Loeser corporate and tax attorney Jeff Folkman, among 

others, had authority to act on behalf of Tricarichi and acted as his agent in 

various matters with respect to the Westside Transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 127, 

Email from J. Folkman at 001; TT3 89:7–90:20 (Tricarichi).  

8. Ultimately, Tricarichi sold his shares of Westside to Nob Hill 

Holdings, Inc., a Fortrend affiliate, for approximately $35 million. The transaction 

closed on September 9, 2003. Ex. 66 at 016, 023. 

III. PwC’s Engagement 

9. Tricarichi separately hired PwC to evaluate the tax implications of 

the proposed Westside Transaction. TT4 142:10–13 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi used 

his brother James as a “conduit” during his dealings with PwC. TT3 143:7–15, 

175:25–176:3.  Tricarichi’s brother, James, was an accountant. 

10. Tricarichi signed a written Engagement Agreement with PwC 

dated April 10, 2003. Ex. 100.  The Engagement Agreement consisted of an 

Engagement Letter which incorporated an attached document entitled “Terms of 

Engagement to Provide Tax Services.”  These documents, collectively, 

comprised the agreement between the parties. See PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Court, No. 82371, 2021 WL 4492128, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 

30, 2021).  

11. As this Court has found previously, Tricarichi received both the 

Engagement Letter and the Terms of Engagement, and the Engagement 

Agreement was a valid and binding contract. See Dkt. 336, Order Granting 

PwC’s Mot. to Strike Jury Demand ¶ 33.3 

12. The Engagement Agreement specified that PwC would provide 

                                                           
3 The instant Court was assigned the case in 2021 after certain decisions, which are law of the 
case, had been made by the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez (ret.) 
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“tax research and evaluation services” for the Westside Transaction. Ex. 100 at 

001.  The Engagement Letter, thus, set forth specific parameters regarding the 

scope of the engagement rather than an open ended engagement.  

13. Section 7 of the Terms of Engagement contained a limitation-of-

liability clause, which states in relevant part:  
IN NO EVENT, UNLESS IT HAS BEEN FINALLY DETERMINED 
THAT [PWC] WAS GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR ACTED 
WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY, SHALL [PWC] BE LIABLE TO 
THE CLIENT OR ANY OF ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, 
EMPLOYEES OR SHAREHOLDERS OR TO ANY OTHER THIRD 
PARTY, WHETHER A CLAIM BE IN TORT, CONTRACT OR 
OTHERWISE FOR ANY AMOUNT IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL 
PROFESSIONAL FEE PAID BY YOU TO US UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE TO WHICH 
SUCH CLAIM RELATES. 

Id. at 007.  

14. Section 3 of the Engagement Agreement advised that  
Tax laws and regulations are subject to change at any 
time, and such changes may be retroactive in effect 
and may be applicable to advice given or other 
services rendered before their effective dates. [PwC] 
do[es] not assume responsibility for such changes 
occurring after the date we have completed our 
services.  

Id. at 006. 

15. Section 10 of the Engagement Agreement specified that it will be 

governed by the laws of the State of New York. Id. at 007. 

16. It was undisputed that several PwC tax professionals worked on 

the Engagement, including Richard Stovsky, the Cleveland-based engagement 

partner; Tim Lohnes, a partner in the corporate M&A group in the national office 

in Washington DC; as well as partners Don Rocen and Ray Turk.  

17. The PwC team performed a number of services pursuant to the 

Engagment Agreement’s terms, including analyzing draft agreements, 

researching potential tax issues, discussing applicability of Treasury Notices, 

and suggesting deal terms to protect Tricarichi (including indemnity protections 
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and insurance).  

18. PwC memorialized parts of its advice to Tricarichi in a memo 

referred to at trial as the “Stovsky Memo,” which Stovsky updated periodically 

after having conversations with other PwC partners, as well as with Tricarichi or 

his advisors. Ex. 2.  PwC also kept a file with notes and other communications 

that it contended were relevant to its analysis. See, e.g., Ex. 1. 

19. PwC primarily investigated two topics for Tricarichi: (1) whether the 

Westside Transaction was reportable to the IRS as a so-called “Midco” 

transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16; and (2) whether Tricarichi could be held 

liable for Westside’s taxes, including under a transferee liability theory. Id. at 

002–004.4 

20. As to the first question, Stovsky advised Tricarichi that the 

transaction “more likely than not” would not be reportable to the IRS as an 

intermediary or Midco transaction under IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 001, 004; 

TT4 158:1–7. 

21. As to the second question, Stovsky similarly advised Tricarichi that 

the transaction “more likely than not” would be “respected” by the IRS; and thus, 

that Tricarichi would not be held liable for Westside’s taxes under transferee 

liability. Ex. 2 at 001–003; TT4 154:3–6.  

22. Based on the testimony of various witnesses for PwC, the “more 

likely than not” qualifier to PwC’s advice is a standard tax industry term that 

meant, consistent with its plain language, there was at least a 50.1% chance of 

prevailing (up to 70% or 75%); or conversely, a 49.9% chance of losing. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 250:5-9 (Harris); id. 60:10–19 (Greene); see also TT1 154:5–20 

                                                           
4 Although the parties disputed the depth of Midco experience the tax professionals at PwC had 
in 2003, that dispute need not be resolved given the Summary Judgment ruling.  
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(Lohnes); TT6 143:2–18 (Boyer).  That specific interpretation of “more likely 

than not” was not set forth in any written communication sent to Tricarichi or his 

representatives.   

23. Based on evidence provided, Stovsky, either directly or through 

conversations with Tricarichi’s representatives, also suggested that Tricarichi 

take out an insurance policy for any potential tax liability or transferee liability.  

Tricarichi did not follow this advice. Ex. 110, Handwritten Notes. TT6 23:18–

25:10.  

24. PwC billed Tricarichi $48,552.00 for the Engagement, which 

Tricarichi paid in full. See Ex. 3, PwC Invoices. 

25. PwC issued its last invoice on October 29, 2003, for services 

rendered through September 30, 2003. Id. at 006.   After that, PwC did not enter 

into any Engagement Letter to perform any paid services for Tricarichi or 

Westside.  While it was undisputed that there was no monetary compensation 

provided after the $48,552.00 was paid in full by the end of 2003, and there was 

no written Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi in 2003, it was disputed 

between the parties as to whether there was an implied client relationship due to 

there being either an ongoing obligation to notify Tricarichi of new IRS bulletins 

or rulings, or the fact that there were communications between PwC and 

Tricarichi or his agents after 2003 relating to the IRS issues that arose regarding 

the Westside Transaction.  

26. While there was evidence that PwC reviewed IRS bulletins and 

information relating to Midco transactions after providing Tricarichi its advice, 

Plaintiff did not meet his burden to show that conduct created an affirmative duty 

on behalf of PwC towards Tricarichi for claims that were not already precluded 

by the Summary Judgment Motion. 

27. For example, in approximately, November 2003, at Mr. Stovsky’s 
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request, Mr. Lohnes reviewed an updated IRS list of prohibited transactions to 

see if the Westside Midco Transaction, or a similar transaction, was listed. Trial 

Ex. 32.  Mr. Lohnes concluded that the November 2003 list “contain[ed] no 

items that would impact [Westside’s] transaction, other than the items we 

discussed previously, namely the midco listed transaction.” Id. at 001.    

28. In addition, it was undisputed that PwC or its attorneys and 

Tricarichi (or his attorneys) had contact after Tricarichi’s IRS dispute began.  It 

was disputed at trial, however, whether these communications were to provide 

general assistance such as providing copies of documents or whether they 

related to the retention of professional accounting services. E.g., Ex. 7, Email 

from S. Marcus to S. Dillon. 

29. At trial, PwC witnesses consistently testified that by 2008, they did 

not consider Tricarichi to be a current client, and that he did not have an 

ongoing relationship with PwC after 2003. TT2 110:24–111:6 (Lohnes); TT3 

31:21–32:3 (Lohnes); TT5 100:15–16 (Stovsky).  Tricarichi, likewise, confirmed 

that he never engaged PwC at any point after 2003, and did not have any 

ongoing relationship after that time.  Indeed, it was shown that while Tricarichi’s 

brother, James, had some interactions with PwC, and so did Tricarichi’s lawyers, 

there was no evidence that Tricarichi retained PwC’s services utilizing a similar 

process involving a written Engagement Letter and payment of fees as he had 

in 2003.  Additionally, the 2003 Engagement Letter, on its face, did not set forth 

there was an ongoing relationship; but, instead, was limited to the scope of 

services provided and paid for.  Further, no additional funds were paid by 

Tricarichi, or anyone on his behalf, to PwC for any type of accounting services 

on behalf of Tricarichi, or involving any interest held by Tricarichi.  TT3 162:25–

163:5; 164:25–165:5 (Tricarichi). 

30. In light of the foregoing specific facts and evidence presented at 

008



 

9 

1 
 

2 
 

3 
 

4 
 

5 
 

6 
 

7 
 

8 
 

9 
 

10 
 

11 
 

12 
 

13 
 

14 
 

15 
 

16 
 

17 
 

18 
 

19 
 

20 
 

21 
 

22 
 

23 
 

24 
 

25 
 

26 
 

27 
 

28 
JOANNA S. KISHNER 

DISTRICT JUDGE 
DEPARTMENT XXXI 

LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155 

 
 
 

trial, the Court finds that Tricarichi ceased being a PwC client as of October, 

2003 when the services pursuant to the specific Engagement Agreement were 

completed and the final bill sent.  By 2008, Tricarichi was a former client of 

PwC’s and had no ongoing professional relationship with the firm.   

31. The next issue for the Court to determine is whether, in light of 

Tricarichi’s status as a former client and/or given the interactions between PwC 

and either Tricarichi, his agents, his counsel and/or the IRS, PwC created a 

relationship with Tricarichi that subjects it to liability pursuant to the claims in the 

Amended Complaint.  The Court sets forth the various issues raised by 

Tricarichi below.  

IV. PwC’s Prior Experience with Midco Transactions Do Not 
Provide a Basis for Liability Against PwC in the Instant Case 

32. Tricarichi alleged that PwC’s advice and/or involvement with other 

Midco transactions demonstrated that it knew or had reason to know that the 

advice it provided to Tricarichi was inaccurate or inconsistent; and thus, he 

should prevail on his Amended Complaint.  In support of that contention, 

Tricarichi provided argument and/or evidence that advice provided in what was 

referred to as the “Enbridge Matter” and the “Marshall Matter” was contrary or 

different that the advice he received.  PwC disputed both the allegations as well 

as the applicability of both matters.    

 
A. The Enbridge Matter 

33. It was undisputed that the Enbridge matter arose in 1999 (prior to 

the issuance of Notice 2001-16) and involved the purchase of shares from the 

Bishop Group, Ltd. by Midcoast Energy Resources (which later came to be 

known as Enbridge). Ex. 156, Enbridge Op. at 001–004.  PwC (through its 

Houston office) gave tax advice to Midcoast in the transaction. Id. at 002.  

34. While the Enbridge matter involved a purported Midco transaction, 
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the Court finds numerous differences between it and the instant case.  First, 

there were four parties (including an intermediary entity) to the Enbridge 

transaction, while the Westside Transaction only involved three parties and 

lacked an intermediary entity. Id. at 002–004.  

35. Second, the Westside Transaction also did not include a target 

corporation with built-in gain assets or a purchaser seeking to achieve a step-up 

in the tax basis of such assets, as was the case in Enbridge. TT8 (Vol. 1) 196:8–

14 (Harris). 

36. Third, the Enbridge transaction did not involve questions of 

transferee liability. Id. 195:22–196:7 (Harris). 

37. Thus, the evidence presented to this Court demonstrated that 

there were differences between the two transactions as to not only their 

structure, but also their timing vis a vis applicable IRS rules and regulations.  In 

addition, the Federal District Court’s decision in Enbridge was published and 

generally available to the public as of March 2008, including to Tricarichi and his 

counsel. See, Enbridge Energy Co. v. United States, 553 F. Supp. 2d 716 (S.D. 

Tex. 2008).  Specifically to the case at bar, there was a memo from R. Corn to 

Plaintiff Tricarichi which demonstrated that Tricarichi was advised on the 

differences between Enbridge and the Westside Transaction so Tricarichi could 

not have relied on any failure of PwC to provide him information about Enbridge 

when his own counsel set forth that it was distinguishable from his case.  Ex. 

169, Memo from R. Corn to M. Tricarichi at 003–004. 

 
B. The Marshall Matter 

38. In addition to Enbridge, Tricarichi also contended that PwC failed 

to disclose that it had any prior relationship with Fortrend and any of its prior 

transactions.  The evidence presented to the Court set forth that the Marshall 
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matter involved the family shareholders of a C corporation who sold their shares 

to a Fortrend affiliate to minimize their tax liability from an expected litigation 

settlement. Ex. 56, Marshall Tax Court Op. at 001–003.  PwC (through its 

Portland office) advised John Marshall not to proceed with the transaction and 

stated that it would not consult or provide advice on the transaction. Id. at 004–

005.  The transaction closed in March 2003. Id. at 007.  

39. As with the Enbridge matter, the Court finds numerous differences 

between the Marshall matter and the instant case.  The Marshalls undertook an 

integrated transaction with significant non-cash built-in gain assets (as opposed 

to none in the Westside Transaction), and the nature of this transaction 

presented greater risks of transferee liability than the Westside Transaction. TT8 

(Vol. 1) 199:3–12 (Harris).  Given the differences in the matters, Tricarichi did 

not meet his burden to show that PwC  has liability to him for failing to disclose 

or take into account the advice given in  that transaction.  

V. Tricarichi’s Tax Dispute with the IRS and IRS Notice 2008-111 

40.  In his Amended Complaint, Tricarichi alleges that his claims are 

not time barred based on a tolling agreement and instead PwC is liable for his 

damages and interest because of what PwC did and did not do regarding IRS 

Notice 2008-11.  The gravaman of Tricarichi’s claims are his contention that:  

had PwC informed Mr. Tricarichi of the problems with its advice regarding the 

Westside Midco Transaction and the resulting error on Mr. Tricarichi’s tax 

return(s), Mr. Tricarichi would have been able to amend his return(s), avoid 

interest on taxes and penalties, avoid litigation with the IRS, and thereby avoid 

related legal fees and expenses. Nov. 2, 2022, Trial Tr. 124:12-126:6. 

41.  PwC contended in its defense inter alia  that: 1.  All  of Tricarichi’s  

claims are barred by statute of limitations; 2. Neither its 2003 advice, nor its 

internal review of the 2008 Notice, which it did not advise Tricarichi it reviewed 
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in 2008, did not fall below the standard of care based on the information 

available and the risk factor it placed on its advice even with a retrospective 

view of the 2008 Notice provisions; 3.  Tricarichi hired  experienced tax lawyers 

who he relied upon in making his decisions and those lawyers provided similar 

advice and analysis as PwC did;  4.  There was no client relationship after 2003  

and thus no duty was owed in 2008 or later; and 5. Tricarichi’s damages are due 

to his own conduct including not settling with the IRS. 

42. It was undisputed that on December 1, 2008, the IRS issued 

Notice 2008-111, entitled “Guidance on Intermediary Transaction Tax Shelters.”  

The impact and obligations relating to that Notice were disputed at trial. Ex. 44.  

43. The plain language of the Notice itself sets forth that the purpose 

of Notice 2008-111 was to “clarif[y]” the agency’s prior notice on Midco 

transactions, IRS Notice 2001-16. Id. at 003.  

44. Specifically, Notice 2008-111 advised taxpayers that a transaction 

would be treated as an “Intermediary Transaction” if: (1) a person engages in 

that transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the Notice); (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice; 

and, (3) no safe harbor exception applies. Id.  

45. In so doing, PwC and others interpreted the Notice to mean that 

the IRS narrowed the scope of Notice 2001-16. TT6 137:17–138:4 (Boyer); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 182:23–183:1 (Harris). 

46. Notice 2008-111 addressed only reportability of transactions to the 

IRS, not liability under the tax laws. Ex. 44 at 003.  The Notice did “not affect the 

legal determination of whether a person’s treatment of the transaction [was] 

proper or whether such person [was] liable, at law or in equity, as a transferee of 

property in respect of the unpaid tax obligation . . . .” Id.  

47. After the IRS issued Notice 2008-111, Lohnes responded in an 
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internal email to a question from Stovsky: “I read through the Notice and agree 

with your assessment that it shouldn’t change any of our prior analysis.” Ex. 

159, Lohnes Email to Stovsky. Stovsky testified that his receiving  the IRS 

subpoena to PwC relating to the Westside Transaction led him to communicate 

with Lohnes about the Notice. TT6 67:9–13. 

48. It was undisputed that the IRS began auditing Westside’s 2003 tax 

return in August 2005, and it interviewed Tricarichi in connection with that audit 

in 2007. Ex. 144, IRS Notice of Audit to Westside Cellular.  PwC was not 

involved with the preparation of Westside’s 2003 return.  

49. On January 22, 2008—roughly ten months before issuing Notice 

2008-111—the IRS sent Tricarichi an Information Document Request (“IDR”) 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 150.  The IDR 

advised Tricarichi that he may be liable for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. 

Id. at 001, See also, Order on Summary Judgment.  

50. The IRS also issued a summons to PwC on January 29, 2008, 

seeking documents related to the Westside Transaction. Ex. 152.   On February 

22, 2008, PwC responded to the summons, on its own behalf.  In so doing, PwC 

provided documents and set forth its contention that it had not provided any 

services to Tricarichi since 2003. Ex. 155.  Tricarichi was not billed for any of 

these activities. See Ex. 3. 

51. The IRS determined that as a result of the Westside transaction 

the company owed an additional $15.2 million in taxes and $6 million in 

penalties for 2003. Ex. 66 at 027.  In a draft transferee report sent to Tricarichi 

on February 3, 2009, the IRS sought payment of Westside’s outstanding tax 

liability from Tricarichi. Ex. 161 at 003–025. 

52. After receiving the draft transferee report, Tricarichi recruited 

highly experienced tax counsel to advise him.  
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53. Among those who Tricarichi hired were Glenn Miller and Michael 

Desmond of Bingham McCutcheon.  Miller has practiced tax law for 

approximately 30 years. TT7 185:6–8.  Desmond is a tax lawyer with over 25 

years of experience, including being employed at the DOJ’s Tax Division. TT6 

169:15–170:1.  After his work for Tricarichi, Desmond later served as IRS Chief 

Counsel. Id. 170:18–171:13. 

54. Tricarichi also hired a team of lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell, led 

by Don Korb, a senior tax lawyer who, at the time of his deposition in 2020, had 

been practicing tax law for over 45 years. TT8 (Vol. 2) 28 (Korb Dep. 15:25–

16:4).  Korb’s experience included serving as Chief Counsel of the IRS from 

2004 to 2008. Id. at 28–29 (Korb Dep. 18:13–15, 19:23–20:1).  

55. As his trial with the IRS in the Tax Court approached, Tricarichi 

also hired several lawyers at McGuire Woods, led by one of its partners, Craig 

Bell. TT6 182:24–183:10 (Desmond).  

56. While representing their client before the IRS and consistent with 

PwC’s prior assessment, Tricarichi’s lawyers repeatedly argued that under the 

standards set forth by Notice 2008-111, the Westside Transaction was not an 

intermediary transaction. See, e.g., Ex. 102, 4/29/09 Response to Draft Protest 

Letter at 006–010; Ex. 103A, 10/9/09 Formal Protest Letter at 012–016; Ex. 

183, 10/27/10 Appeals Conference Presentation at 002–003, 010–012; Ex. 197, 

3/18/11 Korb Letter to IRS at 003–004.  

57. Each of the communications cited above contained lengthy 

explanations of Notice 2008-111,  by individuals separate from PwC including  

tax lawyers, and they all set forth a similar opinion that Lohnes had provided 

internally to Stovsky---i.e. that the 2008 Notice did not apply to the Westside 

Transaction. See id.  For example, the admitted exhibits included a  March 2011 

communication from one of Tricarichi’s lawyers in the tax proceedings, Korb, 
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wherein he contended  that “pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language 

of Notice 2008-111, the sale of West Side Cellular stock is neither an 

intermediary transaction nor substantially similar to an intermediary transaction. 

We see no basis on which this conclusion can be challenged.” Ex. 197 at 004 

(emphasis added); see also Ex. 183 at 002–003, 010–012.   

58.  The evidence established that Tricarichi’s lawyers and the IRS 

also undertook efforts to settle the case.  For example, in October 2010, the IRS 

indicated it would be willing to settle the claim for roughly $14.5 million. Ex. 186, 

Email from D. Korb to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 187, Tricarichi’s Baseline Case 

Calculation at 005; TT6 177:3–9 (Desmond).  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  

59. On December 6, 2010, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Crowell 

sent a “decision tree” analysis to the IRS, which purported to calculate the IRS’s 

chances of success at trial as a means of estimating the settlement value of the 

case. Ex. 190, Email from A. Mason to P. Szpalik at 002. Tricarichi’s lawyers 

took the position that the IRS had only a 17 percent (17%) chance of 

establishing liability for Tricarichi and an 83 percent (83%) chance of failing to 

make such a showing. Id.  

60. At trial, Tricarichi confirmed that as of December 2010, he 

understood that he had an 83 percent (83%) chance of winning his case against 

the IRS based on the decision tree presented by his lawyers and which PwC 

had no part in creating or editing. TT4 75:19–25.  

61. On December 8, 2010, the IRS sent a new settlement offer of 

approximately $16.1 million. Ex. 192, Email from R. Corn to D. Korb; Ex. 193, 

IRS Settlement Computation at 001.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer. 

62. The IRS made another settlement offer in August 2011 of 

approximately $12.4 million. Ex. 201, Facsimile from P. Szpalik to D. Korb at 

002.  Tricarichi did not accept this offer.  
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63. Tricarichi did not settle his IRS case.  Tricarichi testified that he did 

not have the ability to settle for the amount that was being sought.  TT4 30:23–

31:1; id. 74:12–14; id. 86:11–13.  Tricarichi’s lawyers also testified that he was 

not interested in considering settlement offers in the double-digit millions. TT6 

198:2–17 (Desmond). 

64. On June 25, 2012, the IRS issued a formal “Notice of Liability,” 

asserting that Tricarichi owed $15,186,570 in income tax and underpayment 

penalties of $6,012,777 (for a total of approximately $21.2 million) for the 

Westside Transaction. Ex. 210.  Tricarichi petitioned the Tax Court for review 

shortly thereafter. Ex. 66.   

65. On May 30, 2014, Tricarichi rejected his lawyers’ suggestion that 

he might consider making a settlement offer to the IRS saying, “I don’t want to 

give the irs (sic) the impression that we think our case is weak, which I don’t 

believe it is.” Ex. 228, Email from M. Tricarichi to M. Desmond.  

66. In their arguments to the Tax Court, Tricarichi’s lawyers continued 

to argue that the Westside Transaction was not an intermediary transaction and 

did not satisfy Notice 2008-111. See, e.g., Ex. 225, Tricarichi’s Tax Court Cross-

Motion in Limine at 005.   

67. The Tax Court held a four-day trial on Tricarichi’s petition in June 

2014.  After the trial, but before the Tax Court issued its decision in August 2014, 

the IRS proposed settling the case for roughly $13.7 million. Ex. 231, Email from 

M. Desmond to M. Tricarichi; Ex. 232, Draft Settlement Discussion Framework; 

TT6 201:18–202:3 (Desmond). 

68. There was no settlement. Ex. 234, Email from M. Tricarichi to 

M. Desmond.  

69. The Tax Court issued its opinion on October 14, 2015, upholding 

the IRS’s Notice of Liability and ruling for the government on all issues. Ex. 66 at 
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005.  Tricarichi’s subsequent appeals were unsuccessful. Tricarichi v. Comm’r of 

Internal Revenue, 752 F. App’x 455, 456 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 

38 (2019).  

70. The evidence showed that PwC provided the information required 

by the IRS or requested by Tricarichi and his agents or lawyers, regarding the 

tax dispute and/or tax trials.  There was no evidence that Tricarichi hired PwC to 

perform any professional services for him relating to the tax dispute and/or tax 

trials. 

71. The Record further shows that while PwC did not contact Tricarichi 

before or after Lohnes reviewed the 2008 Notice at Stovsky’s request, Tricarichi 

was familiar with Notice 2008-111 and was repeatedly advised as to its content 

and applicability by the attorneys he hired.  

72. For example, Tricarichi reviewed drafts of the April 29, 2009, and 

October 9, 2009, letters to the IRS, both of which contained detailed discussions 

of Notice 2008-111. TT7 189:1–18, 190:6-22 (discussing Ex. 102); Ex. 103A at 

030.  In fact, Tricarichi signed the October 9, 2009, letter himself, attesting under 

penalty of perjury that he had “examined this protest, including any 

accompanying documents,” and that the “facts presented in this protest are true, 

correct, and complete.” Id. 

73. Tricarichi’s attorneys also testified that they advised him on Notice 

2008-11 specifically, and Midco transactions generally, both orally and in writing. 

TT7 189:19–190:2, 193:5–15 (Miller).  

74. For example, in October 2009, Korb sent a memo to Tricarichi and 

his personal attorney Randy Hart, advising them that the Westside transaction 

was “quite different” from the type of transaction described in Notice 2008-111. 

Ex. 165 at 003.  Tricarichi also reviewed settlement presentations to the IRS that 

discussed Notice 2008-111 and the reasons it did not apply to the Westside 
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Transaction. Ex. 174; Ex. 182.  

75. The Court, therefore, finds that Tricarichi was aware of Notice 

2008-111 and his counsel’s interpretation of its applicability to the Westside 

Transaction at least as of April 29, 2009.  There was also evidence that during 

the months and years that followed, his lawyers continued to advise him 

repeatedly that in their opinion, and/or they had a strong argument to present to 

a court, that the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were not met.  This is the 

same conclusion that PwC reached when it reviewed Notice 2008-111 shortly 

after its issuance. See Ex. 159.  

76. The preponderance of the evidence also shows that Tricarichi was 

aware, or should have been aware, of the existence and contents of the Stovsky 

memo no later than 2009.  At trial, Tricarichi testified at one point that he first 

saw a copy of the memo when PwC invited him and his lawyer, Randy Hart, to 

review a box of documents it was planning to send to the IRS in response to a 

summons it received regarding the Westside Transaction. TT4 7:21–23; see 

also TT5 89:23–90:2, 90:21-91:1 (Stovsky); TT6 62:19–63:12 (Stovsky).  This 

meeting occurred in February 2008. See Ex. 155; TT6 62:11–25 (Stovsky).  At 

another point during his testimony, he stated that he was unsure whether he 

saw the Stovsky memo in 2008.  TT3. 122:14–19 

77. Even if Tricarichi did not read the memo at the time he and Mr. 

Hart were to review the documents to be sent to the IRS, that same memo was 

cited by the IRS.  Specifically, in February and August 2009, the IRS cited the 

Stovsky memo and described its contents to Tricarichi in the draft and final 

transferee reports that it issued. Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010.  Further, in 

September 2009, PwC sent Tricarichi a copy of the files it had provided to the 

IRS, which included the Stovsky Memo. Ex. 51 at 001.  Additionally, in October 

2009, Sullivan & Cromwell billed Tricarichi, in part, for reviewing the Stovsky 
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Memo. Ex. 168 at 002.  Thus, even though Tricarichi stated at one point that he 

never heard the phrase “more likely than not” before trial, (TT3 107:17–21) and 

provided different recollections of when and/or whether he read or was made 

aware of the contents of the Stovsky memo, the evidence demonstrates that 

given the number of other witnesses and documents, Tricarichi reasonably 

should be viewed as being on notice of the contents of the Stovsky memo.  

VI. Procedural History of Tricarichi’s Dispute with PwC 

78. On January 14, 2011, Joel Levin, an attorney for Tricarichi, sent 

Stovsky a letter in which he stated that “it is [Tricarichi’s] position that this multi-

million dollar potential tax liability [for the Westside Transaction] lies at the feet 

of PWC for failing to provide him competent services, advice and counsel with 

respect to the subject stock sale to Fortrend, particularly concerning the 

potential tax consequences.” Ex. 205 at 002.  

79. In April 2016, Tricarichi filed a Complaint against PwC  in the 

Eighth Judicial District alleging that PwC’s 2003 advice on the Westside 

Transaction was negligent. Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 37–40, 81–96. 

80. On October 22, 2018, the Court granted Summary Judgment in 

PwC’s favor, holding that the statute of limitations barred any claims based on 

PwC’s 2003 advice. Dkt. 119 at 2.  The Court entered Judgment in favor of PwC 

“regarding any and all claims arising from the services PwC provided Tricarichi 

in 2003.” Id. at 3.  

81. Tricarichi filed an Amended Complaint in which he added a claim 

for negligence based on PwC’s alleged failure to tell him about Notice 2008-111. 

Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 116–17.  Tricarichi alleged that if PwC had told him about Notice 

2008-111, he would have immediately stopped litigating against the IRS and 

paid the tax deficiency. Id. ¶ 119. 

82. In the meantime, Tricarichi pursued a professional negligence 
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claim against his attorneys at Hahn Loeser, alleging that they committed 

malpractice by advising him to enter into the Westside Transaction.  After a 

mediation in September 2012, Tricarichi and Hahn Loeser settled their dispute 

for $4 million before any litigation was filed. Ex. 217, Letter from J. Levin to N. 

Schwartz; Ex. 218, Confidential Settlement Agreement at 003 (¶ 5). 

VII. Standards of Professional Care 

83. The primary source of professional responsibility standards for 

CPA tax practitioners during the time at issue in this case were standards 

promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”). 

84. In fact, the Engagement Agreement between PwC and Tricarichi 

specified that all services were to be performed “in accordance with the AICPA’s 

Statements on Standards for Tax Services.” Ex. 100 at 007 (Section 7). 

85. Both Nevada (where Tricarichi was located) and Ohio (where PwC 

dispensed its advice) adopted the AICPA professional standards, at least in part, 

to govern accountants licensed to practice. Nev. Admin. Code §§ 628.0060-5(a) 

& (d), 628.500; Ohio Admin. Code § 4701-9-09. 

86. AICPA Rule 201 provides that a CPA tax practitioner must exercise 

professional competence and due care, which depends on the scope of the 

practitioner’s engagement under the particular facts and circumstances. Ex. 4, 

AICPA Professional Standards.  

87. The AICPA has defined the standard of care, and competence in 

the context of tax planning advice and tax return preparation, in a series of 

documents known as the Statements on Standards for Tax Services, or SSTSs. 

Ex. 106, Statements on Standards for Tax Services 1–8 (Aug. 2000). 

88. SSTS No. 6 is entitled “Knowledge of Error: Return Preparation.” 

This standard addresses situations in which an accountant (or “member”) 

discovers either an error in a previously filed return or the taxpayer’s failure to 
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file a return in the past. Id. at 027.  

89. SSTS No. 6 states that “[a] member should inform the taxpayer 

promptly upon becoming aware of an error in a previously filed return or upon 

becoming aware of a taxpayer’s failure to file a required return.” Id. (¶ 3). 

90. An “error” under SSTS No. 6 is any position that has less than a 

one-in-three chance of success. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 1); id. at 008 (¶ 2(a)), id. at 

011 (Interpretation 1-1); Ex. 149 at 046, IRS Circular 230 (Section 10.34), 

Definition D1; TT8 (Vol. 1) 191:17–25 (Harris).  

91. The “Explanation” section of SSTS No. 6 clarifies that its 

obligations exist only when the accountant is continuing to represent the client. 

Both Paragraphs 5 and 9 of SSTS No. 6 refer to telling the “taxpayer” (client) 

about the error if the member became aware of it “[w]hile performing services 

for a taxpayer.” Ex. 106 at 028–029 (¶¶ 5, 9); TT7 32:16–33:12 (Dellinger).  

92. Paragraph 6 of the same section discusses “whether to continue a 

professional or employment relationship with the taxpayer” if the taxpayer does 

not correct the error. Ex. 106 at 028 (¶ 6).  This, again, presupposes an existing 

client relationship, a point upon which both PwC’s and Tricarichi’s experts 

agreed. TT7 30:22–31:11 (Dellinger); TT8 (Vol. 1) 36:21–37:7 (Greene). 

93. Nothing in the text of SSTS No. 6 imposes any obligations on an 

accountant with respect to a former client.  Trial testimony established that such 

an open-ended obligation on accountants to their former clients would pose 

enormous practical difficulties. TT7 33:13–22 (Dellinger); see also TT8 (Vol. 1) 

38:19–22 (Greene).  

94. SSTS No. 8 is entitled “Form and Content of Advice to Taxpayers.” 

It addresses the “circumstances in which a member has a responsibility to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided.” Ex. 106 at 033 (¶ 1).  
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95. The standard states: “[a] member has no obligation to 

communicate with a taxpayer when subsequent developments affect advice 

previously provided with respect to significant matters, except while assisting a 

taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans associated with the advice 

provided or when a member undertakes this obligation by specific agreement.” 

Id. (¶ 4).  

96. The “Explanation” section of the standard further specifies that “a 

member cannot be expected to communicate subsequent developments that 

affect such advice unless the member undertakes this obligation by specific 

agreement with the taxpayer.” Id. at 034 (¶ 9).  

97. Finally, the standard notes that taxpayers should be informed that 

any advice rendered reflects professional judgment based on an existing 

situation, and that later developments could affect earlier advice.  It further 

instructs that “Members may use precautionary language to the effect that their 

advice is based on facts as stated and authorities are subject to change.” Id. at 

035 (¶ 10).  PwC included such language in its Engagement Agreement. See 

FOF ¶ 14, supra.  

 
VIII. Tricarichi’s Claimed Damages and PwC’s Mitigation Defense 

98. Tricarichi seeks, as damages, the legal fees incurred in his IRS 

litigation, and the interest on his unpaid taxes and penalties that accrued from 

January 1, 2009, through November 13, 2018.  Specifically, in this case Tricarchi 

contends that PwC is liable to him for $3,180,143.03 in legal fees and costs, and 

$14,937,400.18 in interest owed to the IRS.  

99. As one of its defenses, PwC contended through its expert that the 

damages asserted are too high and do not reflect appropriate mitigation.  PwC 

contended that had Tricarichi set aside the money he potentially owed the IRS 
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and invested it in stock funds, bond funds, real estate funds, or some 

combination of these, he could have enjoyed rates of return on the funds he 

kept from the IRS significantly higher than the three-to-six percent interest rates 

charged by the IRS during the same period. TT7 132:5–140:8 (Leaunae). 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 
I. Elements of Tricarichi’s Cause of Action (Count III) 

100. Tricarichi tried a single claim of professional negligence (Count III 

of his Amended Complaint) to the Court. Dkt. 140 ¶¶ 115–121.  Count III 

focuses only on whether the issuance of Notice 2008-111 in December 2008 

gave rise to any duty to Tricarichi that PwC breached. Id.5  

101. Despite the narrow focus of Count III, some of the evidence at trial 

focused on what was contended to be negligent acts and omissions that 

occurred in 2003, when PwC originally rendered its advice, or earlier despite the 

Court’s prior Summary Judgment ruling, which barred as untimely “any and all 

claims arising from the services PwC provided Plaintiff in 2003.” Dkt. 191 at 3.  

Given the time and effort spent on the providing the detailed history of the case, 

and given the extensive procedural history including appeals and multiple 

proceedings in other courts, the Court has included historical facts and 

testimony for clarity of the record.  By incorporating a fuller factual background, 

the Court is not sua sponte altering or amending any prior judgment or ruling as 

they remain law of the case. See, e.g.  Recontrust Co. v. Zhang, 130 Nev. 1, 7–

8 (2014) (“[A] court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open 

                                                           
5 The Amended Complaint also contains Counts I and II against PwC, both of which were 
included only for preservation purposes after the Court dismissed them on Summary Judgment in 
2018. Dkt. 140 n.1.  Counts I and II were not tried to the Court, nor was any other claim in the 
Amended Complaint apart from Count III. TT9 167:25–168:23. 
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questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher 

one in earlier phases”) (quotation omitted); see also Dkt. 234 at 4. 

102. The elements of a cause of action in tort for professional 

negligence are:  
(1) the duty of the professional to use such skill, 
prudence, and diligence as other members of his 
profession commonly possess and exercise; (2) the 
breach of that duty; (3) a proximate causal connection 
between the negligent conduct and the resulting 
injury, and (4) actual loss or damage resulting from 
the professional’s negligence. 

Sorenson v. Pavlokowski, 94 Nev. 440, 443, 581 P.2d 851, 853 (Nev. 1978).  

103. As set forth in more detail below, at trial, Tricarichi failed to meet 

his burden of proof on all four elements.  

 
II. First Element: PwC Did Not Owe Tricarichi a Duty of Care in          

2008 

104. The Court concludes that PwC did not owe any duty to Tricarichi, 

who ceased being a client in 2003, such that PwC should have updated its 

previously-provided advice in 2008, after Notice 2008-111 issued. See 

Rodriguez v. Primadonna Co., LLC, 125 Nev. 578, 584, 216 P.3d 793, 798 (Nev. 

2009) (existence of duty is a matter of law for the Court to decide). 

105. Under the AICPA’s SSTS No. 8, a member does not have any 

obligation to communicate with a taxpayer about subsequent developments, 

except “while assisting the taxpayer in implementing procedures or plans 

associated with the advice provided or when the member undertakes this 

obligation by specific agreement.” Ex. 106 at 033.  

106. At trial, Tricarichi argued that the first exception (“while 

implementing plans or procedures”) was satisfied because PwC provided 

comments on the stock purchase agreement between Westside and Nob Hill in 

2003, which he claimed created a continuing obligation for PwC to update him 
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on subsequent developments in 2008. TT9 112:13–24.  

107. The Court disagrees.  By its plain language, the exception only 

applies “while” the member is assisting the taxpayer in implementing 

procedures. TT9 81:17–84:1 (Harris); TT7 67:2–68:5 (Delllinger).  Even if 

providing comments on the agreement counted as “implementing” Tricarichi’s 

plan in 2003 (a question that the Court need not reach here), it is undisputed 

that those efforts ceased in 2003.  By 2008, PwC was not performing any work 

for Tricarichi.  

108. As to the second exception, in the present case there was a 

specific Engagement Letter signed by Tricarichi.  PwC’s Engagement Letter, 

consistent with SSTS No. 8, specifically disclaimed any ongoing obligation for 

changes to the tax laws after services were rendered. Ex. 100 at 006 (Section 

3); Ex. 106 at 006.  Further, there was no contention that Tricarichi was not 

aware of the terms of the Engagement Letter as he even made comments on 

the Engagement Letter which he signed.  

109. Tricarichi also pointed to Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8, 

which discusses when a member may consider providing advice in written, as 

opposed to oral, form. TT8 (Vol. 1) 10:13–14:11 (Greene); Ex. 106 at 034.  In 

the present case, there was disputed testimony about whether there was a 

specific discussion about obtaining the information orally or in writing or if 

Tricarichi knew that he could have requested the opinions to be set forth in 

writing.  Regardless of whether there was a difference between the parties 

whether any discussion took place or not, and even if the Court were to credit 

Tricarichi’s view, the language of Paragraphs 6 and 7 of SSTS No. 8 is what the 

Court focuses on to determine if the first prong of the cause of action is met.  As 

the plain language of the provision sets forth that the decision regarding the 

form of advice is left to the “professional judgement” of the member, the Court 
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cannot find that it imposes any affirmative duty on members to provide written 

advice.  Instead, the Court reads the language as setting forth situations when 

written advice may be preferable. TT8 (Vol. 1) 208:10–25 (Harris).  

110. Thus, the Court concludes that Tricarichi did not meet his burden 

to demonstrate in the present case that the standards set forth in SSTS No. 8 

gave  rise to any duty of care on the part of PwC to Tricarichi.  

111. SSTS No. 6, likewise, does not create any duty to Tricarichi.  The 

Court has already found that SSTS No. 6 is limited to circumstances involving 

awareness of an error on a tax return when an accountant is performing 

services for a current client.  Here, PwC was no longer performing services for 

Tricarichi in 2008.  At trial, even Tricarichi’s expert would not commit to imposing 

a duty on PwC under these circumstances. TT8 (Vol. 1) 38:19–22 (“[Q.] Let’s 

say there were no services being provided to Mr. Tricarichi by PwC in 2008, in 

that circumstance would PwC have a duty to disclose an error to a former client, 

under SSTS 6? A. Perhaps not.”).  

112. PwC’s later, occasional, contact with Tricarichi and his lawyers, 

while responding to IRS subpoenas for documents in 2008 and later for 

testimony in 2013 and 2014, does not constitute performing services for 

Tricarichi.  PwC was required by law to respond to IRS subpoenas on its own 

behalf.  Tricarichi concede that he did not seek to engage PwC, and PwC did 

not invoice Tricarichi for time spent responding to the IRS subpoenas or 

testifying at his Tax Court trial. 

113. Relying on internal PwC policies and a single practice guide 

published by the AICPA, Tricarichi also asserted at trial that PwC had a duty to 

maintain a written file documenting how it reached its conclusions about Notice 

2008-111. TT7 106:1–14, 109:7–19 (Greene); Ex. 22; Ex. 88.  

114. While the Court took into account both the policies and the 
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practice guide, it cannot find that either of these created a duty that meets the 

criteria necessary for a professional negligence tort.  Furthermore, the practice 

guide is not authoritative literature and describes only “best practices”; it does 

not impose requirements on all accountants. TT8 (Vol. 1) 88:1–23 (Greene). 

Indeed, it would be Tricarichi’s burden to establish that a failure to follow internal 

policies or the terms of a practice guide creates a duty under Nevada law but he 

did not provide any case law to the Court to support that contention.  Instead, 

the only case cited by either party was outside the jurisdiction and it provided 

that a company’s internal standards are distinct from, and can be more rigorous 

than, external duties imposed under the law. See, In re Conticommodity Servs., 

Inc. Sec. Litig., No. MDL 644, 1988 WL 56172, at *1–2 (N.D. Ill. May 25, 1988).6   

115. Based on the above reasons, the Court concludes, as a matter of 

law, that PwC did not owe any duty of care to Tricarichi, its former client.  

Accordingly, Tricarichi has failed to establish the first element of his claim.  

While the failure to meet all elements of a cause of action would allow Judgment 

in favor of PwC, the Court addresses each of the other elements as well.  

 
III. Second Element: Even if PwC Owed a Duty to Tricarichi, PwC 

Did Not Breach That Duty 

116. Even if PwC owed a duty to update its former client, the Court 

concludes that based on the evidence, Tricarichi has failed to prove that PwC 

breached its duty.  

 

                                                           
6 Plaintiff Tricarichi did cite a one case from a federal District Court in Nevada, Garner v. Bank of 
Am. Corp., 2014 WL 1945142 at *7–8 (D. Nev. May 13, 2014).  That case, however, is inapposite 
as it discusses generally that a duty can arise from a special relationship but does not address 
the specific issues raised in this case.  
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A. Failure to Disclose Notice 2008-111 to Tricarichi Was Not 

a Breach Because Tricarichi Did Not Meet His Burden to 
Show that  the Notice Rendered PwC’s Prior Advice 
Erroneous  

117. Assuming arguendo that SSTS No. 6 did create a duty to 

Tricarichi, that duty could only be breached if Notice 2008-111 made PwC aware 

of an “error” in a previously filed return. Ex. 106 at 027 (¶ 3). It did not.  

118. First, it is undisputed that PwC was not aware of any error on a 

previously filed tax return as a result of Notice 2008-111.  Tricarichi contends, 

instead, that PwC should have been aware of an error because it should have 

interpreted the 2008 Notice as invalidating or being contrary in some respect to 

the advice given by PwC in 2003.  The evidence presented by Tricarichi was 

that the IRS’s position that Tricarichi owed taxes as a result of the Westside 

transaction was upheld by the tax court, and then the appellate court; and by 

implication, PwC should have known that Tricarichi would not prevail in either of 

those courts.  The challenge with that argument is that it is flawed and not 

supported by the facts.  First, there was no evidence that the IRS relied on 

Notice 2008-111, which came out in December 2008, to commence its audit of 

the Westside transaction, which began in 2005 about three years before the 

Notice came out.  Further, on January 22, 2008 - roughly ten months before 

issuing Notice 2008-11 was sent to Tricarichi - he had already received an 

Information Document Request (“IDR”) from the IRS seeking documents related 

to the Westside Transaction.  The IDR advised Tricarichi that he may be liable 

for all or part of Westside’s tax liability. Ex. 150.  Thus, even if Notice 2008-111 

did more than narrow the circumstances in which a transaction would be 

reportable, as was contended by PwC and others, Tricarichi did not meet his 

burden to show that PwC breached its duty within the statute of limitations time 
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frame by failing to update him as there was no evidence that PwC knew that 

such a Notice would come out in until it actually came out and by that time the 

IRS had already begun its audit and he had already received the IDR.  

119. To the extent that Tricarichi also claims that he would have 

modified his tax returns and taken other actions after December 1, 2008, if PwC 

had informed him that Notice 2008-111 impacted the merits of the IRS’s position 

on the audit they had already commenced in 2005, that contention was also not 

established by the evidence. Instead the evidence showed that even after he 

had various opportunities to resolve his tax dispute and had the benefit of 

several legal tax professionals advising him, he chose not to settle the tax 

dispute. 

120. PwC further contended that pursuant to Notice 2008–111, a 

transaction is treated as a Midco transaction if: (1) a person engages in that 

transaction pursuant to a “Plan” (as defined in the notice); and (2) the 

transaction contains each of four objective components described in the Notice. 

Ex. 44 at 003.  

121. There was no dispute that the term “Plan” is defined in Section 2 

of the Notice, and it must include the disposition of Built-in Gain Assets. Id. at 

003-004. “Built-in Gain Assets” is, in turn, defined as an asset “the sale of which 

would result on taxable gain.” Id.  

122. The undisputed evidence at trial—from fact and expert witnesses 

called by both parties (including Tricarichi himself)—was that Westside did not 

have any Built-in Gain Assets at the time of the transaction, and that the 

Westside Transaction did not involve the sale of any Built-in Gain Assets. TT2 

95:16–18 (Lohnes); TT4 63:5–10 (Tricarichi) (referring to Ex. 182 at 003); TT8 

(Vol. 1) 76:20–22 (Greene); Id. 191:11–16 (Harris); TT7 200:3–23 (Miller).  The 

theory espoused in questioning by Tricarichi’s counsel, that the release of the 
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claims in the lawsuit constituted Built-In Gain Assets, was not supported by a 

single witness or any evidence in the case. 

123. At the time of the transaction, Westside had only cash in its bank 

accounts from the lawsuit settlement with the cell phone carriers, which was 

considered ordinary income, not taxable gain from the sale of a Built-in Gain 

Asset, and reported that way on Westside’s tax return. TT2 47:12–22 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 76:17–19 (Greene); Id. 259:11–21 (Harris); see also Nahey v. 

Comm’r, 111 T.C. 256, 261–65 (1998) (holding that settlement of lawsuits “does 

not constitute a sale or exchange” and thus would be treated as ordinary 

income, not capital gain).  

124. Thus, given the language of the Notice and how was interpreted 

by others on behalf of Tricarichi, PwC did not fall below the standard of care by 

reviewing Notice 2008-111 and making the determination that it did not change 

the firm’s prior analysis that, “more likely than not”, the transaction was not 

reportable. Ex. 45, Lohnes Email to Stovsky.   

125. Tricarichi argued at trial that Lohnes or Stovsky should have 

consulted one of the designated “Subject Matter Experts,” or SMEs, at PwC 

before reaching this conclusion.  This argument, however, had no evidentiary 

support.  Tricarichi claimed at trial that it was the failure of PwC to inform him 

that Notice 2008-111 impacted his personal liability to the IRS as a transferee.  

Whether PwC had a SME involved or not is irrelevant.  It was uncontested that 

PwC (via Stovsky) did not believe there was any information to provide Tricarichi 

based on Notice 2008-111.  Stovsky was Tricarichi’s relationship tax 

professional at PwC who, in the past, had communicated what he thought 

should be communicated to Tricarichi.  Whether Stovsky communicated 

internally with only Lohnes, or also with others such as a SME, prior to making 

that determination, it was PwC’s decision, via a tax partner, not to provide 
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Tricarichi with any analysis of Notice 2008-111, and whether that decision does 

or does not meet the standard of professional negligence, is the issue before 

the Court.  The issue is not a speculation of whether if Stovsky or Lohnes 

reached out to a SME would that SME give the same or a different opinion and 

if so what would have happened.  Tricarichi’s claim and PwC’s defenses are 

based on what actually occurred - not speculation of what could have occurred 

with a different set of facts.   

126. In addition, in the present case, Tricarichi did not establish that the 

individuals at PwC who provided the advice in 2003 were not qualified to 

provide the advice.  PwC did provide evidence that Lohnes had prior expertise 

in Midco transactions, even though he could not recall names of specific matters 

he worked on. TT3 4:21–5:20 (Lohnes).  Second, the directory of SMEs was not 

an exhaustive list of people at PwC with knowledge about particular 

transactions, but rather that it served merely as a contact list for people outside 

of Lohnes’ group (Washington National Tax Service). TT2 115:2–116:10 

(Lohnes).  Finally, a designated SME on Midco transactions, Mark Boyer, 

testified that Lohnes had a level of expertise in Midco transactions similar to his 

own. TT6 140:15–141:12.  

127. Another reason that PwC’s advice in 2003 was not in “error” was 

because it rendered its advice with a “more likely than not” confidence level. 

That allows for up to a 49.9 percent (49.9%) likelihood of the result going the 

other way.  Thus, even if IRS 2008-111 did expand, rather than narrow, the 

reportability standard (and it did not), that would not render earlier advice given 

with a “more likely than not” standard erroneous.  

128. As noted above, an “error” under SSTS No. 6 means that the 

member advised the taxpayer to take a position with less than a 1-in-3 chance 

of success.  No one testified that as a result of Notice 2008-111, PwC’s original 
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advice on reportability had such a low confidence level.  

129. In evaluating the breach element, the Court also has to look at 

what the other professionals Tricarichi hired advised him with in relation to 

Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to his risk of liability to the IRS.  Both the 

internal communications, provided as exhibits, as well as the arguments 

presented to the various courts by Tricarichi’s legal tax attorneys as noted 

herein, were consistent with the advice provided by PwC. See, also Ex. 165.  In 

addition, there was testimony that practitioners before the IRS and the Tax Court 

must have a “good faith basis” in their positions—the same type of “good faith 

basis” that is required under SSTS No. 1 when determining whether a position is 

erroneous. TT8 (Vol. 1) 235:3–25, 237:21–238:16 (Harris); TT6 184:9–12 

(Desmond). 

130. Therefore, even if PwC had a duty to update Tricarichi about an 

“error” in its prior advice on whether the transaction was now “reportable” 

pursuant to Notice 2008-111, based on evidence presented as to the language 

of the provision as well as the other advise Tricarichi received consistent with 

PwC’s own internal analysis, Tricarichi has failed to show that there was a 

breach of any asserted duty.  

 
B. PwC Did Not Breach Any Duty to Provide Advice in 

Writing or to Maintain Written Documentation 

131. As discussed above, PwC did not have any affirmative duty to put 

its advice in writing, either in 2003 or at any point after.  But, even if such a duty 

existed, it would not have been breached in 2008 when Lohnes and Stovsky 

reviewed Notice 2008-111 for its applicability to the Westside Transaction.  

132. Any duty to provide advice in writing presupposes, as a matter of 

logic, that some sort of advice is being provided to a client.  That was not the 

case in 2008.  Tricarichi neither sought a tax engagement from PwC to receive 
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any advice from PwC in 2008, nor was he provided any tax advice from PwC in 

2008. TT3 162:21–163:5; TT8 (Vol. 1) 113:5–7 (Greene).  Thus, it would have 

been impossible for PwC to breach any hypothetical duty to provide advice in 

writing to Tricarichi at that time. TT8 (Vol. 1) 114:18–25 (Greene).   

 
C. Failure to Disclose PwC’s Prior Involvement in the 

Enbridge and Marshall Transactions Was Not a Breach 
of Any Duty 

133. Tricarichi also contends that Notice 2008-111 should have 

prompted PwC to disclose its prior advice and the outcomes in the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions, and that its failure to do so was a negligent omission. 

134. The Court disagrees.  PwC’s involvement with Marshall and 

Enbridge occurred long before the December 2008 issuance of Notice 

2008-111, and the “independent duty” that Tricarichi claims came about at that 

time as a result of the issuance of that Notice.  PwC rendered its advice in the 

Marshall case in 2003, and its involvement with Enbridge was in 1999.7  

135. Moreover, as the Court has found above, both the Enbridge and 

Marshall transactions were substantially distinct from the Westside Transaction, 

and there is no reason to believe that PwC’s work in those two matters rendered 

their advice to Tricarichi any more or less correct.  

136. Furthermore, the evidence at trial showed that PwC would not 

have been able to disclose the specific details of these engagements with 

Tricarichi because of its confidentiality obligations. TT3 35:23–36:7 (Lohnes); 

TT8 (Vol. 1) 199:17–23 (Harris); id. 102:14–103:4 (Greene).  

137. Thus, the Court concludes as a matter of law that the failure to 

disclose details of the Enbridge or Marshall transactions does not constitute a 

                                                           
7 As noted above, the Court’s 2018 Summary Judgment ruling on statute of limitations bars 
Tricarichi’s allegations regarding Marshall and Enbridge.  
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breach of any duty of care that PwC owed to Tricarichi.  

 
IV. Third Element: Tricarichi Has Not Proven Causation 

138. To prevail on his claim, Tricarichi must prove a “proximate causal 

connection between the negligent conduct and resulting injury.” Boesiger v. 

Desert Appraisals, LLC, 135 Nev. 192, 194–95, 444 P.3d 436, 439 (Nev. 2019).  

139. Tricarichi asserts that PwC’s alleged negligence (i.e., failing to 

advise him about Notice 2008-111) caused his alleged injury (the $14,937,400 in 

interest that accrued after Notice 2008-111 was issued and the $3,180,143 in 

attorney’s fees he spent litigating against the IRS).  

140. The Court disagrees and concludes that Tricarichi has failed to 

establish causation for four independent reasons.  

141. First, the record is clear that Tricarichi and his team of tax lawyers 

were aware of Notice 2008-111 and its implications shortly after the Notice 

issued as set forth above.  The Court has already found that Tricarichi was 

aware of Notice 2008-111 and its applicability to the Westside Transaction no 

later than 2009; and further, that Tricarichi’s attorneys repeatedly advised him 

thereafter throughout the course of his litigation with the IRS regarding whether  

the requirements of Notice 2008-111 were met or not.  

142. Thus, Tricarichi’s causation arguments rest on the supposition that 

he would have abandoned his IRS litigation and immediately settled with the 

government if only PwC had added a contrary voice to the chorus of 

distinguished tax advisors—which included both former and future IRS Chief 

Counsels—who were advising Tricarichi that the requirements of Notice 

2008-111 were not satisfied.  While Tricarichi argued that it would have made a 

difference in his decisions, he failed to meet his evidentiary burden.    

143. To the contrary, Tricarichi’s lawyers at Sullivan & Cromwell advised 
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him that the IRS did not need to rely on Notice 2008-111 to win, and that their 

argument was “a bit of a red herring.” Ex. 165 at 003.  And when asked at trial if 

he knew in 2009 that Notice 2008-111 was a red herring, Tricarichi replied: “The 

arguments that they’re using in 2008-111 -- again, I’m not a tax expert and I 

keep saying that over and over again. But I can read. Okay? This is not why we 

lost the [Tax Court] case. It has nothing to do with why we lost the case.” TT3 

224:19–23 (Tricarichi) (emphasis added).  The Court has to take Tricarichi’s own 

testimony into account in evaluating every element of his claim.  Giving 

Tricarichi the benefit of the doubt that his words could be viewed out of context, 

the weight of the rest of the evidence shows that there were too many 

intervening causes which prevent holding PwC liable for Tricarichi’s asserted 

damages.   

144. Second, the chronology of the case demonstrates that Notice 

2008-11 could not have prevented the audit which later resulted in the liability 

determination.  Specifically,  Tricarichi  did not  show that disclosure of Notice 

2008-111 would have made any difference to the rulings of the Courts as to his 

liability because the Notice, on its face, relates only to reportability of 

transactions and not a taxpayer’s underlying liability:  The language of the 

Notice sets forth it:  “does not affect the legal determination of whether a 

person’s treatment of the transaction is proper or whether such person is liable, 

at law or in equity, as a transferee of property in respect of the unpaid tax 

obligation . . . .” Ex. 44 at 003. 

145. Importantly, in the present case, the chronology of facts shows 

that the IRS had been examining/auditing the Westside Transaction for about 

three years before Notice 2008-111 issued.  The IRS began its audit of the 2003 

Westside tax return in 2005, interviewed Tricarichi regarding that audit in 2007, 

and issued an Information Document Request to Tricarichi in 2008, all before 
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the issuance of Notice 2008-111.  Thus, even if PwC had informed Tricarichi that 

2008-111 would require Tricarichi to report the Westside transaction, there was 

no evidence presented how that would have changed the IRS determination 

based on the audit that he was liable as a transferee in the instant case since 

the audit had already progressed for three years prior to the Notice being 

promulgated and the IRS had already informed him that it was seeking the 

underpayment from his as a transferee.     

146. The third reason, Tricarichi cannot meet the causation prong of his 

professional negligence claim is that there is no credible evidence to support his 

contention that if PwC had notified him regarding Notice 2008-111, he would 

have amended his taxes and settled the case with the IRS in December 2008; 

and thus, he would not have incurred any of the attorney fees or interest 

damages he is seeking in the present case.  Specifically, his transferee liability 

stems from the taxes filed by various entities as a result of the Westside 

transaction, and he did not present any evidence how he could amend the 

relevant filings in 2008 or 2009 at no cost, and that as a result, the IRS would 

not pursue him for transferee liability.  There was no evidence from any IRS 

witness or anyone else that the outcome described was possible.  

147.  Additionally, the evidence presented demonstrated that he had 

several opportunities to settle the case with the IRS and minimize fees and 

interest but he chose not to do so.  As set forth in the Findings above, these 

opportunities to settle the case came about after he was advised by 

experienced tax counsel as to liability and the impact of 2008-111.  While the 

reason Tricarichi chose not to resolve the matter with the IRS was disputed, 

PwC asserted that the communications between Tricarichi and his tax counsel 

show he did not have the funds or felt the offers to settle were too high, and the 

Record was devoid of any exhibit where Tricarichi contended that he did not 
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settle due to the advice provided by PwC in 2003.  Instead, the only testimony in 

support of that contention is Tricarichi’s own testimony which the Court has to 

weigh in contrast with the other testimony by his tax lawyers and the various 

exhibits that were introduced which are not in accord with his testimony.  In so 

doing, the Court finds that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to show that Pwc’s 

action or inaction relating to Notice 2008-111 meets the causation element of is 

claim.  

148. Thus, Tricarichi has failed to provide the level of evidence 

necessary to support the notion that even had PwC advised Tricarichi about 

Notice 2008-111 when it issued, Tricarichi could have or would have settled with 

the IRS thereby avoiding the interest and legal fees he now seeks as damages.  

149. Fourth, to the extent that Tricarichi’s claim is that PwC was 

negligent in 2008 because it did not advise him at that time of the contents of 

the Stovsky Memo (as opposed to Notice 2008-111 itself), causation is still 

defeated because the record is clear that Tricarichi was made aware of either 

the existence or contents (or both) of the Stovsky memo on at least five 

separate occasions in 2008 and 2009, either by PwC itself, the IRS, or his 

attorneys. TT4 at 7:21–25; Ex. 161 at 009; Ex. 163 at 010; Ex. 164 at 001; Ex. 

168 at 002.  

 
V. Fourth Element: Damages 

150. As the Court has found that Tricarichi, independently, has not met 

his burden on any of the first three elements of a cause of action for  

Professional Negligence, the Court need not, and determines it would not be 

appropriate, to address the damages element.  

 
VI. Basis of PwC’s Affirmative Defenses 

151. PwC tried four of its affirmative defenses to the Court: statute of 
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limitations (second affirmative defense), failure to mitigate damages (fourteenth 

affirmative defense), offset/contribution (fifteenth affirmative defense), and 

limitation of liability (sixteenth affirmative defense).  

152. Consistent with the Court’s determination that Tricarichi failed to 

meet his burden on the elements of his cause of action for Professional 

Negligence, the Court will only address the Second Affirmative Defense relating 

to statute of limitations.8  

153. Under Nevada law, an action for professional malpractice must be 

brought two years from discovery or four years from the alleged malpractice, 

whichever occurs earlier. NRS § 11.2075(1).  

154. Under New York law—the governing law identified in the 

Engagement Agreement—the statute of limitations is three years from the 

alleged malpractice. See Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 644 N.E.2d 1009, 

1011 (N.Y. 1994) (citing New York CPLR § 214). 

155. Under either, the limitation period of Tricarichi’s claim is untimely.  

156. PwC’s alleged acts of negligence related to Notice 2008-111 

occurred in December 2008 or January 2009, shortly after it issued.  Thus, 

under New York law, the statute of limitations would have expired at the latest in 

January 2013.   Tricarichi did not file suit in this case until April 29, 2016, making 

his claim untimely.  

157. The outcome is no different if the Court applies Nevada law.  The 

Court found above that Tricarichi was subjectively aware of Notice 2008-111 at 

least as of April 29, 2009.  Thus, the Court concludes, for limitations purposes, 

                                                           
8 As set forth above, the Court found that the first three elements of his cause of action were not 
met for independent reasons. Thus, the Court found that there was not a basis to address the 
damages element of his cause of action.  Consistent therewith, the Court finds no basis to 
address the other three affirmative defenses which are based on if there was a finding that 
damages were appropriate - there was not.  
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that the latest date that Tricarichi knew or should have known about his claim 

was April 29, 2009.  

158. Under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(a), Tricarichi’s action would have needed 

to be commenced no later than April 29, 2011 (two years from discovery).  And 

under N.R.S. 11.2075(1)(b), the action needed to be commenced by January, 

2013 (four years from the alleged malpractice).  However, the statute specifies 

that the earlier of the two dates controls; thus, for limitations purposes, the latest 

date that Tricarichi could have filed his claim is April 29, 2011.  He filed his claim 

five years too late, on April 29, 2016.9  

159. At trial, Tricarichi failed to introduce any evidence of a tolling 

agreement, and expressly declined to do so when the Court inquired about such 

an agreement immediately prior to closings. TT9 100:7–20 (“MR. HESSELL: 

Yeah. No, we don’t need to -- We don’t need that”) (referring to proposed Exhibit 

83).  Furthermore, Tricarichi failed to include any proposed pre-trial findings or 

conclusions of law on statute of limitations.  As such, Tricarichi has waived any 

argument that the limitations period was tolled by agreement or otherwise.10 

Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cnty. of Clark, 123 Nev. 44, 

49, 152 P.3d 737, 740 (Nev. 2007). 

160. Instead, Tricarichi’s counsel claimed in his closing argument 

rebuttal, that the inclusion of a tolling agreement - as an exhibit to a brief in 

opposition to an earlier Summary Judgment Motion - relieved him of any 

obligation to introduce it as evidence at trial.  The Court disagrees. See Garcia 

v. Shapiro, 515 P.3d 345, (Nev. App. 2022) (“Regardless, motions, statements 

                                                           
9 In utilizing the January date, the  this Court is providing Tricarichi the longer time frame as it is 
taking into account the Levin letter (Ex. 205).   
10 Tricarichi’s failure to disclose any proposed findings of fact or conclusions of law regarding 
statute of limitations, likewise waives any argument that he is entitled to statutory tolling under 
N.R.S. 11.2075(2).  
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and allegations within them, and exhibits attached to them do not necessarily 

constitute evidence.”) (citing EDCR 5.205(g) (“Exhibits [to motions] may be 

deemed offers of proof but shall not be considered substantive evidence until 

admitted.”)); cf. NRAP 28(e) (party raising evidentiary issue on appeal must 

identify where in the record “evidence was identified, offered, and received or 

rejected”); see also Town of Gorham v. Duchaine, 224 A.3d 241, 244 (Me. 2020) 

(“[S]imply attaching documents to a motion is not the equivalent of properly 

introducing or admitting them as evidence.  Documents attached to motions are 

not part of the record and therefore cannot be considered evidence in the record 

on appeal.”) (Collecting state cases). 

161. Thus, under either the three-year statute of limitations in New 

York, or the two-year statute of limitations in Nevada, Tricarichi’s claim is time-

barred11.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

                                                           
11  As set forth herein, the Court finds that PwC’s Statute of Limitations defense was met. The fact 
that Tricarichi’s claim is barred by the Statute of Limitations is an independent basis upon which 
Judgment for PwC is to be entered in addition to basis that Tricarichi did not meet his burden to 
establish all four elements of his professional negligence claim.  
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ORDER  AND JUDGMENT 

THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO THE ABOVE FINDINGS OF FACT and 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and 

DECREED that Judgment shall be entered in favor of Defendant PwC and 

Plaintiff Tricarichi shall take nothing from his Complaint.  

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that 

any request for fees and costs shall be handled via separate timely-filed Motion. 

Counsel for  Defendant PwC is directed pursuant to NRCP 58 (b) and (e) 

to file and serve Notice of Entry of this Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 

Judgment within fourteen (14) days hereof.  

 

      Dated this 9th day of February, 2023. 

 

 

      _______________________________ 
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